IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

LERON TERRELL BLANKENSHIP, No. 66118 Nov 18 2014 10:51 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction in Case Number CR14-0461 The Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada Honorable Patrick Flanagan, District Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

JEREMY T. BOSLER Washoe County Public Defender Nevada State Bar No. 4925 JOHN REESE PETTY Chief Deputy Public Defender Nevada State Bar No. 10 350 South Center Street, 5th Floor P.O. Box 11130 Reno, Nevada 89520-0027 (775) 337-4827

Attorneys for Leron Terrell Blankenship

I. STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The district court filed a criminal judgment of conviction on June 19, 2014. Appellant, Leron Terrell Blankenship (Mr. Blankenship), filed a notice of appeal from that judgment on July 17, 2014. This Court's jurisdiction rests on Rule 4(b) of the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure and NRS 177.015(3) (providing that a defendant may appeal from a final judgment in a criminal case).

II. STATEMENT OF THE LEGAL ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Whether Judge Flanagan erred in following the Division's sentencing recommendation where, as here, that recommendation rested on impalpable and highly suspect evidence; namely, an outdated and highly subjective scoring instrument?
- 2. Whether Judge Flanagan erred in not making a determination of the issues raised concerning the validity of PSI score and resulting recommendation, which he followed?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a judgment of conviction. The State charged Mr. Blankenship with committing the crime of destroy or injure real or personal property of another, having a value of \$5000 or greater, a violation of NRS 206.310 and NRS 193.155, a felony. JA 1-3

(Information). Pursuant to negotiations, Mr. Blankenship pleaded guilty to this charge. JA 17 (Transcript of Proceedings: Arraignment). The negotiations provided that in exchange for Mr. Blankenship's guilty plea the State would concur with the sentencing recommendation of the Division of Parole and Probation (Division). Id. at 12 and JA 6 (Guilty Plea Memorandum (Paragraph 7). At the sentencing hearing, the State concurred with the Division's recommendation of 12 to 32 months of incarceration. Judge Flanagan agreed and sentenced Mr. Blankenship to a term of 12 to 32 months in the Nevada Department of Corrections, with credit for one-day of pre-sentence confinement. Judge Flanagan also ordered Mr. Blankenship to pay required fees and assessments and to pay restitution in the amount of \$3,150.00. JA 83-84 (Judgment of Conviction).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The facts underlying the offense are these: Before Mr.

Blankenship and his wife moved from an apartment owned by the victim, Douglas Carling, Mr. Blankenship damaged the interior of the apartment. For example, Mr. Blankenship wrote graffiti on the walls of

¹ "JA" stands for the Joint Appendix previously filed with the Court. Pagination conforms to NRAP 30(c).

the apartment with a permanent marker, he put holes into the sheet rock, the cabinet doors were torn off the cabinets and a ceiling fan was broken off of the ceiling. (These examples are not exclusive.) JA 14 (Transcript of Proceedings: Arraignment) (prosecutor's description of the offense); JA 71-72 (Transcript of Proceedings: Sentencing) (victim's statement); and Presentence Investigation Report (PSI) at 4 (Offense Synopsis).

Prior to the sentencing hearing, a notice was filed in the district court that Mr. Blankenship had been rejected for placement in the district court's Mental Health Court Program. The reason ostensibly given was that he did not have a "qualifying diagnosis." JA 21 (Rejection Letter: Mental Health Court). Nonetheless, Mr. Blankenship's counsel filed a motion to have the court place him in Mental Health Court as a condition of probation arguing that he did, in fact, qualify for the program pursuant to NRS 176A.260. JA 23 (Memorandum Re: Sentencing[,] Motion to Divert to Mental Health Court and Request for Hearing) (noting that Mr. Blankenship "has been on social security disability for many years for a qualifying mental health condition."). In her motion counsel also noted that when his

actual eligibility information for that program was provided to the Mental Health Court staff, they "then suggested he would be rejected due to his dangerousness." However, no specific information supporting a claim of dangerousness has ever been provided to counsel or the court. Id.² In this same motion counsel also requested any documentation from the Division of Parole and Probation that it had relied upon to recommend incarceration of 12 to 32 months, and not probation. JA 25-26. Subsequently, in a supplemental sentencing memorandum, JA 32-39 (Supplemental Memorandum Re: Sentencing[,] Motion to Divert to Mental Health Court and Request for Hearing³), Mr. Blankenship's counsel argued that the PSI was either inaccurate or contained suspect information or was highly subjective and that proper scoring would have confirmed probation for Mr. Blankenship. JA 33-38.

² Exhibit 1 to the motion was a copy of an e-mail stream concluding with Specialty Court Officer Ms. Rene Biondo's statement that she would "generate a corrected denial letter." JA 30. To date, no "corrected" denial letter has been filed in district court case number CR14-0461. (district court's eflex file in CR14-0461 last checked on November 18, 2014.)

³ Attached as Exhibit 1 to the supplemental motion was a copy of the Division's scoring documents. This exhibit—containing Mr. Blankenship's Probation Success Probability Scale and Sentence Recommendation Scale—has been transmitted to the Court pursuant to this Court's Order filed on September 19, 2014.

Specifically, Ms. Pusich wrote: "The eligibility scale used by Parole and Probation ought to be based upon objective and accurate information. In the present case there are scores used in determining that Mr. Blankenship is merely a 'borderline' candidate for supervision that are not accurate." JA 33. For example, she noted the Division scored Mr. Blankenship with a "history of violence" on the Probation Success Probability Scale (PSP), based upon a single prior misdemeanor conviction in San Francisco, California in 2002. This score increased his score by four points. JA 33-34.4 Counsel was particularly critical of the score given to Mr. Blankenship under the category family situation: "disruptive." She noted that Mr. Blankenship "live[d] with his wife, who is fully supportive of him." JA 34-35. She also noted that the Division rated Mr. Blankenship "less eligible for probation because he is disabled. And, [the Division chose] to make him less eligible based on his disability twice" (being unemployed and "unemployable"). JA 35. Ms. Pusich argued that the Division's borderline score of 60 for Mr. Blankenship was wrong because had they "not illegally penalized Mr.

⁴ The PSI lists two other misdemeanor convictions at pages 3-4 (and no felony convictions) (listing a 1991 misdemeanor conviction and a 1999 misdemeanor conviction).

Blankenship for his disabled status, he would have scored six additional points, placing him in the rating scale for which probation is recommended, scores of 65-100." JA 36 (also noting that this change in rating "would apply even if the Court did not consider the other unsupported scores in the report").

The subjectivity of the Division's scoring system was made clear at sentencing. At the sentencing hearing the State called Laura Pappas, a parole and probation supervisor who was "currently assigned to supervise several presentence investigators." JA 43 (Transcript of Proceedings: Sentencing). Notably, Ms. Pappas did not author the presentence investigation report in this case, nor did she approve or sign-off on the report. *Id.* at 51, 52. See PSI at 7 (noting that the report was prepared by Michael C. Gregg and approved by Thomas Wilson).

Ms. Pappas testified that the Division uses "a variety of tools to help us come to a recommendation," and that they try to be "as objective as possible." *Id.* at 44. One tool is a "PSP score," which is an assessment tool. *Id.* The PSP score covers "some social history, some criminal history, facts about the particular case, et. cetera." *Id.* at 45. Ms. Pappas did not know who had created the form, but said that the Division has

been using it "since at least the 1980s." Id. at 49. Ms. Pappas characterized the PSP as a "guideline," noting the Division is "not bound by making a recommendation based solely on that tool." *Id.* Ms. Pappas testified that there were no written materials on how to use the guideline for grading, just on-the-job training was available. *Id.* at 50. She added, "[w]e talk about [removing subjectivity in scoring] in training sessions, because we do find that, because as all the parties are aware, some of those items can be subjective rather than objective." *Id.* at 51. Later, Ms. Pappas returned to this topic noting that the selection scales do have "some areas of subjectivity." She continued, "[w]hen reviewing these cases, anybody can go back, four of us can go back and independently score that and come out with a little bit [sic] score." Id. at 60.

Another tool is the interview. *Id.* Ms. Pappas testified that the interviewer, Mr. Gregg, characterized Mr. Blankenship as "hostile during the interview." *Id.* at 46. Because he was not present and because defense counsel had not been provided a copy of his notes, Judge Flanagan sustained defense counsel's objection to Ms. Pappas' elaborating on Mr. Gregg's notes. *Id.* at 61.

Ms. Pappas testified that Mr. Blankenship scored a 60 on the eligibility for probation scale—a "borderline" score. $Id.^5$ According to Ms. Pappas this means that "statistically speaking, the case probably could have gone either way. He could have probably been easily appropriate for incarceration or easily appropriate for probation." Id. Ms. Pappas said that Mr. Blankenship's criminal history—"[a]lthough dated and sporadic and some may consider stale in nature"—is "what it is" and is a factor. Id. at 46. Additionally, the offense itself is a factor. Here, Ms. Pappas said that Mr. Blankenship's actions appeared to be "deliberate and repetitive" by someone with "perhaps ... some anger issues." Id. at 47.

Ms. Pappas testified that the Division has to weigh "the protection of the community versus any therapeutic needs that the defendant might have." *Id.* Asked if there is a bias toward safety of the community, Ms. Pappas testified that the decision for or against probation is "a case-by-case" decision. *Id.* at 47-48. Ms. Pappas testified that Mr. Blankenship's conduct and history indicated he was a "danger

⁵ On the Sentence Recommendation Selection Scale used by the Division, a score of 0-54 is a denial; a score of 55 to 64 is borderline; and a score of 65 to 100 is probation.

to society." She also testified that Mr. Blankenship's mental health diagnosis did not "enter into the scoring." *Id.* at 48. Notably Ms. Pappas also testified that she could not speak to the Division's position on Mr. Blankenship's request for placement into Mental Health Court. *Id.* at 48-49.

Ms. Pappas testified that she did not believe there was any procedure within the Division for a defendant to challenge their score if they believe it to be inaccurate. *Id.* at 58.

Following Ms. Pappas' testimony, Mr. Blankenship's counsel presented argument challenging the subjectivity and reliability of the selection score, particularly as applied to Mr. Blankenship. *Id.* at 62-69. Mr. Blankenship's counsel first noted that the part of the scoring sheet that addressed employment did not account for, or give consideration of, persons, such as Mr. Blankenship, with disabilities. *Id.* at 62-63.6 She added that had his disability been considered, "he would have gotten six more points. And with six more points on their scale, he would not have been borderline, he would have been someone who was recommended for probation." *Id.* at 63. Mr. Blankenship's counsel argued that the

 $^{^6}$ Ms. Pappas testified that the scale did not account for disabilities. JA 56-57.

scale was not complete, and because of its age, it did not comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act. *Id.* She said it was of questionable validity. Mr. Blankenship's counsel also noted the highly subjective nature of the scoring scale. *Id.* For example, the scale put Mr. Blankenship's family situation as "disruptive," but Ms. Pappas could not explain why. <u>See JA 55-56</u>.

In sum, counsel argued "the information provided …shows that this grading scale … is something [a court] shouldn't be relying upon, particularly with respect to a disabled individual." *Id.* at 64.7 Counsel requested that Mr. Blankenship be placed on a period of probation and be placed in Mental Health Court. *Id.* at 67.

The prosecutor argued in favor of the Division's recommendation and presented victim testimony. *Id.* at 69-71 (argument) and *Id.* at 71-75 (testimony). Thereafter, Judge Flanagan—without commenting on Ms. Pappas' testimony—followed the Division's recommendation, see PSI at 6, and sentenced Mr. Blankenship to a term of 12 to 32 months

⁷ Mr. Blankenship's counsel also noted that this grading score was also used to keep Mr. Blankenship disqualified from Mental Health Court. JA 65.

in the Nevada Department of Corrections. *Id.* at 80-81; JA 83-84 (Judgment of Conviction). Mr. Blankenship appeals his sentence.

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Division of Parole and Probation is mandated by statute to prepare a PSI to be used at felony sentencing hearings. The PSI must not include information based on "impalpable or highly suspect evidence." Moreover, because any significant inaccuracy in the PSI follows a defendant into the prison system—where it used for purposes of classification, placement into certain programs and eligibility for parole—the PSI must be as objectively accurate as possible. Indeed, NRS 213.10988(1) requires the Chief Parole and Probation Officer to adopt standards to assist in formulating a recommendation regarding the granting of probation, and these standards must be "based upon objective criteria." Although the Division uses a Probation Success Probability Scale and a Sentence Recommendation Selection Scale in making this determination, that instrument appears to be over three decades old and is subject to highly subjective use—any four people in the Division could consider the same information and reach four different conclusions.

Here, based on the use of these scales Mr. Blankenship received a score of 60, placing him in a borderline category. As such, Mr. Blankenship was as eligible for probation as he was for incarceration. However, if the Division had properly considered his disability (as it affected his ability to be employed), he would have scored 6 more points which would have placed him squarely in the probation-eligible category, illustrating the highly subjective basis of the Division's recommendation notwithstanding its purported use of objective instruments.

This error was coupled by Judge Flanagan's failure to make a determination of the validity of the PSI score and the resulting recommendation for incarceration, which he followed completely.

Consequently, this Court should reverse the sentence imposed below and remand for a new sentencing hearing.

VI. ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

This Court reviews a district court's sentencing decision for abuse of discretion. Silks v. State, 92 Nev. 91, 545 P.2d 1149 (1976); Renard v. State, 94 Nev. 368, 580 P.2d 470 (1978); and see Parrish v. State, 116

Nev. 982, 989, 12 P.3d 953, 957 (2000) (noting that a district court's sentencing discretion is not limitless) (citation omitted). An abuse of discretion occurs when the sentencing court relies on impalpable or highly suspect evidence at sentencing. Silks v. State, 92 Nev. at 94, 545 P.2d at 1161. A PSI must not include information based on impalpable or highly suspect evidence. Goodson v. State, 98 Nev. 493, 495-96, 654 P.2d 1006, 1007 (1982). And, if objected to, a sentencing court must make a determination on the PSI information. Sasser v. State, 130 Nev. _____, ____, 324 P.3d 1221, 1223 (2014).

Discussion

1. Judge Flanagan erred in following the Division's sentencing recommendation where, as here, that recommendation rested on impalpable and highly suspect evidence; namely, an outdated and highly subjective scoring instrument.

As relevant here, the Division "is mandated by statute to prepare a PSI to be used at sentencing for any defendant who pleads guilty to ... a felony. NRS 176.135(1)." *Stockmeier v. State, Bd. Of Parole Comm'rs*, 127 Nev. _____, 255 P.3d 209, 212 (2011). And, because sentencing courts rely on a defendant's PSI, "the PSI must not include information based on 'impalpable or highly suspect evidence.' *Goodson v. State*, 98 Nev. 493, 495-96, 654 P.2d 1006, 1007 (1982)." *Id.* at ____, 255 P.3d at

213. Moreover, because "any significant inaccuracy [in the PSI] could follow a defendant into the prison system and be used to determine his classification, placement in certain programs, and eligibility for parole," *Id.* at ____, 255 P.3d at 214, the PSI must be as objectively accurate as possible. See *Stockmeier*, 127 Nev. at ____, 255 P.3d at 213 (noting requirement that Division disclose "to the prosecuting attorney, defense counsel, and the defendant" the PSI's factual content in order to give them "the opportunity to object to any of the PSI's factual allegations"); and *cf. Goodson v. State*, 98 Nev. at 496, 654 P.2d at 1007 (information contained in PSI that defendant was a drug dealer not objectively accurate).

Pursuant to NRS 213.10988(1) the Chief Parole and Probation

Officer of the Division is required to adopt standards to assist in

"formulating a recommendation regarding the granting of probation ...

to a convicted person who is otherwise eligible for ... probation[.]" These

"standards must be based upon objective criteria for determining the

person's probability of success on ... probation." *Id*. The forthcoming

recommendation is more than a mere suggestion to the sentencing

court. The sentencing court must consider these standards and the

Division's recommendation in determining whether to grant probation.

See NRS 176A.100(3) ("The court shall consider the standards adopted pursuant to NRS 213.10988 and the recommendation of the Chief Parole and Probation Officer, if any, in determining whether to grant probation to a person.").8

Consistent with its mandate in NRS 213.10988, the Division uses scoring instruments⁹ to assist in "formulating a recommendation" purportedly based on "objective criteria." But as we shall see, that "objectivity" is in the eye of the beholder.

As previously noted, Ms. Pappas testified that the Division <u>tries</u> to be "as objective as possible," but also testified that the scoring

⁸ Contrary to the suggestion in the State's <u>Fast Track Response</u> at 4—that Mr. Blankenship thinks that the district court should not consider the recommendation—we think the district court must consider the recommendation but recognize that that recommendation may be based on highly suspect reasoning or other impalpable evidence, rendering the recommendation unreliable. Judge Flanagan did not have that realization here.

⁹ The Division determines whether probation will be recommended using a scoring system—a Probation Success Probability form—that considers many different factors and assigns numeric values to come up with a total score. NAC 213.590. Pursuant to NAC 216.600, the recommended term of incarceration is derived using the Sentence Recommendation Selection Scale, which utilizes the score from the Probation Success Probability form to determine a recommended sentence range.

instrument the Division uses is approximately three decades old, and contains "some areas of subjectivity." Ms. Pappas also acknowledged that no formal written materials exist on how to use the instrument for grading; instead, the Division relies on internal job training. Ms. Pappas testified that during training sessions, Division personnel "talk about" how to remove subjectivity in scoring. Nonetheless, Ms. Pappas testified that four different people in the Division could score the same information differently. Significantly, Ms. Pappas considered the scoring instrument to be only a "guideline," with a resulting score not necessarily binding the Division to any particular recommendation. Thus, the first obstacle to objectivity is the scoring instrument itself. The second obstacle to objectivity is the subjective conclusions of the scorer. As noted, the scorer, Mr. Gregg, was not present at the sentencing hearing and thus his actual reasoning process as it related to Mr. Blankenship is unknown. Query, did Mr. Gregg's view of Mr. Blankenship as "hostile during the interview" influence his decision to recommend incarceration instead of probation in this "borderline" case? If so, where is this "factor" noted?

So here we have a borderline score—one that could have resulted—in Ms. Pappas' opinion—in probation. Apparently however, based on a "dated and sporadic" [read "stale"] criminal history, an unsupported characterization of Mr. Blankenship's family situation as "disruptive," and no accounting for Mr. Blankenship's disabilities or their effect in the area of employment (which if accounted for would have placed Mr. Blankenship squarely in the probation-eligible category), or any consideration of Mr. Blankenship's mental health diagnosis as it might pertain to his "therapeutic needs," the Division recommended incarceration for 12 to 32 months in the Nevada Department of Corrections. This recommendation does not rest on objective factors and is instead based on impalpable or highly suspect evidence; namely, subjective factors coupled with an outdated and suspect scoring instrument.

This Court should vacate the sentence imposed below and remand for a new sentencing hearing.

///

///

///

2. Judge Flanagan erred in not making a determination of the issues raised concerning the validity of the PSI score and resulting recommendation, which he followed.

"[A] defendant has a right to object to his PSI and the district will make a determination on the PSI information, so long as the defendant objects to it at the time of sentencing." Sasser v. State, 130 Nev. _____, _____, 324 P.3d 1221, 1223 (2014). Here Mr. Blankenship objected to the information (and scoring) used to construct the PSI and the resulting sentencing recommendation by the Division. However, Judge Flanagan followed the Division's sentencing recommendation without "mak[ing] a determination on the PSI information." See JA 76-80 (Judge Flanagan's listing of things he considered, but nowhere listing Mr. Blankenship's many challenges to the PSI or to the Division's resulting recommendation—which Judge Flanagan simply followed). This was error. This Court should vacate the sentence and remand for a new sentencing hearing.

VII. CONCLUSION

Because the Division's sentencing recommendation was not based on objectively accurate information, but on impalpable or highly suspect evidence, and because Judge Flanagan did not specifically address Mr. Blankenship's objections and make a determination of the validity of the PSI, this Court should vacate the sentence imposed below and remand for a new sentencing hearing before a different district court judge. (Prior to sentencing the Division should be required to prepare a new PSI relying on objective factors and crediting Mr. Blankenship's disabilities and mental health diagnosis in properly scoring his eligibility for probation.)