IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

LERON TERRELL BLANKENSHIP,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed
No. 66118 Dec 18 2014 11:59 a.m.
Tracie K. Lindeman
Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

JEREMY T. BOSLER Public Defender

JOHN REESE PETTY Chief Appellate Deputy P.O. Box 11130 Reno, Nevada 89520 TERRENCE P. McCARTHY

RICHARD A. GAMMICK

Chief Appellate Deputy P.O. Box 11130

Reno, Nevada 89520

District Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a judgment of conviction following a plea of guilty to one count of destroying the property of another, with a value over \$5,000, a felony. Prior to sentencing, defense counsel filed a memorandum seeking an order requiring the mental health court staff to disclose some sort of information, and requiring the division of parole and probation to divulge the basis of their recommendation. JA 22-25. On that subject, the Opening Brief suggests that the defense was denied access to the author of the pre-sentence report. The actual record reveals no subpoena to the author and that it was the defense that successfully objected to consideration of the notes of the author. *See* JA 61. The defense presented evidence and comment about the propriety of the recommendation from the Division of Parole and Probation, but sought no remedy.

As the defense sought no remedy, the court granted none and proceeded to impose sentence. This appeal followed.

II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

As revealed in the Opening Brief, appellant Blankenship caused serious damage to an apartment where he resided.

III. ARGUMENT

1. There Are No Rulings of the District Court Preserved for Appeal.

The nature of the argument in the appeal can be discerned by reference to the remedy sought. Here, the proposed remedy is a new judge, and a new sentencing hearing, and a new pre-sentence report based solely on unidentified objective criteria. The problem is that the defense never moved to strike the report and never asked the court not to consider it and never asked the judge to recuse himself. Thus, the issue is raised for the first time on appeal. Issues raised for the first time on appeal should not be considered by this Court. This Court has held that "[a] point not urged in the trial court, unless it goes to the jurisdiction of that court, is deemed to have been waived and will not be considered on appeal." *Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown*, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981). If Blankenship wanted the judge to strike the PSI or to recuse himself, he should have said so instead of requiring the judge to try to guess at the nature of the remedy being sought.

///

2. There Was No Error.

The instant claim may be that the district court should have discerned that the arguments and the evidence were being offered in support of a non-existent motion to strike the PSI. If the defense had asked the court to strike the PSI and to refuse to consider it, and if the court had refused, that would not have been error.

Perhaps it would be best to first dispose of the contentions that do not matter. For example, there seems to be a contention that the Division, when formulating its recommendation, cannot consider violent crimes that are misdemeanors and are not recent. There is no such law. The habitual criminal statute "makes no special allowance for non-violent crimes or for the remoteness of [prior] convictions," as those are considerations within the district court's discretion. Arajakis v. State, 108 Nev. 976, 983, 843 P.2d 800, 805 (1992). If the district court may consider remote and non-violent crimes at sentencing, there would seem to be no law prohibiting the Division from likewise considering such prior crimes. The contention that the Division and the court cannot consider the defendant's "disruptive" family life because the author of the report did not reveal the basis of the description ought not to detain the court. The defense could have called the author as a witness or could have declined to object to use of the author's notes, but there was no error by the court in failing to be persuaded that the absence of evidence is somehow persuasive evidence that the author used an inappropriate standard.

Likewise, the claim that the division recommended punishment based on the defendant's mental illness was contradicted by the testimony of the representative of the Division of Parole and Probation to the effect that the recommendation is based on conduct, not the cause of the conduct. JA 76. The officer testified that "His diagnosis doesn't enter into the scoring. His behavior and how he presents do. There are many, many people with identical diagnosis that are on probation and free in the community." Thus, it seems that the mental health court refused services to the defendant not because of his mental illness, but because his crime involves threats of violence to the victim of the crime. JA 48.

The reference to impalpable and highly suspect evidence also need not detain this Court as there is no specific fact identified in the PSI that is incorrect. Instead, the dispute concerns worksheets and the scoring and the characterizations and questions such as whether the undisputed criminal history amounts to a history of a "violent" crime. As there are no real facts in dispute, but only the conclusions to be drawn from the facts, the analysis of *Silks v. State*, 92 Nev. 91, 94, 545 P.2d 1159, 1161 (1976), does not seem to apply. That analysis would apply only if the defense identified some evidence that was impalpable or highly suspect. The instant argument concerns only recommendations, not evidence.

So, we come to the crux of the matter. Appellant asserts that the report and the recommendation may only be based on objective criteria. The problem again is defining the terms. According to *Black's Law Dictionary*, *Seventh Edition*, "objective" means "Of, relating to, or based on externally verifiable phenomena, as opposed to an individual's perception, feelings or intentions."

There are statutes touching on the subject that use terms that would seem to be at odds with each other. As appellant points out, NRS 213.10988 requires that the standards for recommending probation, or not, must be based on "objective criteria." In contrast, NRS 176.145 requires that the report must have all sorts of subjective information, such as information concerning the defendant's character. In addition, NRS 176.145(2) provides that the report may contain "any additional information that [the division] believes may be helpful in imposing a sentence, in granting probation, or in correctional treatment." Likewise, the report must include information concerning the psychological harm to the victim. NRS 176.145(1)(c). That is difficult to reconcile with the reference to "objective" factors. So, the State offers this: the things considered in making the recommendation must be more than a mere hunch. The characterization of whether the defendant's home life is "disruptive" must be based on articulable facts. The characterization of something as violent or disruptive is necessarily going to

have subjective components, but the requirement that the characterization be based on articulable facts would accomplish the goals of both statutes.

In general, when construing statutes, the court should not render any part nugatory but should interpret each statute "in harmony" with other statutes. *Nevada Power Co. v. Haggerty*, 115 Nev. 353, 364, 989 P.2d 870, 877 (1999). Requiring that the recommendation be based on externally verifiable phenomena, while allowing characterization of those phenomena using terms like "disruptive" and "violent" will serve to give effect to both statutes. Thus, the State contends that the appellant has failed to show that there was something inappropriate in the report. If Blankenship had asked the court to strike the report, and to allow a sentencing hearing before a new judge with a new PSI, and based that motion on the testimony of Laura Pappas, the court would not have erred in denying that motion.

3. The District Court Did Not Err in Failing to Resolve Any Factual Disputes When the Disputes Involved the Recommendation of the Report and Not Any Specific Factual Error.

This Court's recent decisions in *Stockmeier v. State, Bd. of Parole Comm'rs*, 127 Nev. ___, __, 255 P.3d 209, 213–14 (2012) and in *Sasser v. State*, ___ Nev. ___, 324 P.3d 1221 (2014) have created a cottage industry of sorts. The Court has required that where factual disputes arise about the contents of the PSI, the defendant must be given an opportunity to object, and the court must resolve the disputes so that any errors do not follow the defendant

through the corrective system. The problem here is that Blankenship never

identified any specific factual error in the report. Instead, his focus was on the

scoring sheets, on the information and methods used to make the

recommendation. Even now, although the PSI is in the record, there is no

assertion that there is some specific factual error in the report itself.

The court was fully informed of the basis for the Division's

recommendation and thus was free to give it whatever weight it found

appropriate. Here, there is no basis for any suggestion that the court gave the

recommendation any weight at all. Instead, it seems just as likely that the

court considered all that was available, including the subjective factors, and

reached its own decision about what sentence was appropriate. No law

prohibits the court from considering the recommendations of the Division and

so the judgment of the district court should be affirmed.

IV. **CONCLUSION**

There is no error in failing to strike the recommendation of the Division

and there is no law prohibiting the court from considering the

recommendation. Hence, the judgment should be affirmed.